
COUNCIL ON DEVELOPMENT FINANCE 
 

April 25, 2011 
PUBLIC HEARING 371 

 
 

THOSE PRESENT: 
 
Mr. Andy Lubin, Chairperson    Director Alan Levin 
Honorable Nancy Cook    Mr. Gary Smith 
Mr. Tom Gilligan     Mr. Stephen Bach  
Mr. Jack Riddle     Ms. Rachael Onorato 
Mr. Fred Sears      Mrs. Lee Porter 

Ms. Beverly Ennis 
Ann Marie Johnson, DAG 
Ms. Patty Cannon  

       Ms. Bernice Whaley 
       Ms. Nikki Lavoie 
        

  
ALSO PRESENT:  Mr. Michael Morton, Controller General’s Office, Ms. Andrea 
Godfrey – Office of Management and Budget; Representing Projects: Applied Control 
Engineering – Mr. Timothy Cole;  Modular Carpet Recycling – Mr. Ron Simonetti; 
Real Entertainment – Wilmington, LLC – Mr. Hal Real; Service Telecom Corp. – 
Mr. Bamdad  Bahar and Mr. A. Veves 
 
LOCATION:   Buena Vista, 661 South DuPont Highway, New Castle, Delaware  19720 
 
TIME:  9:00 A.M. 
 
CALL TO ORDER 
 
The meeting was called to order at 9:05 A.M. by Mr. Lubin, Chairperson, on Monday, 
April 25, 2011. 
 
OLD BUSINESS: 
 
Mr. Sears made a motion that the minutes of the March 28, 2011 Council on 
Development Finance meeting be approved as presented.  Mr. Gilligan seconded the 
motion which was then adopted by unanimous vote. 
 
NEW BUSINESS: 
 
Applied Control Engineering (“ACE”) or the “Applicant”) - The Applicant is 
requesting a grant from the Delaware Strategic Fund program in the amount of $159,000.  
ACE, located at 700 Creek View Road in Newark, Delaware, provides process control 



CDF Minutes 
April 25, 2011 
Page 2 
 
engineering and systems integration services to the manufacturing industry.  The 
Applicant proposes to use the proceeds to supplement working capital. 
 
Ms. Cannon presented this request to the Council.  She stated that often when it is time to 
renew its lease, a company will review its current situation.  She stated they are usually 
trying to save money and when it is time to renew a lease, they may try to renegotiate.  
She stated there are currently 43 high tech engineering positions.  Ms. Cannon stated that 
most of the hires were originally interns through the University of Delaware. 
 
 Mr. Cole stated that ACE will be celebrating its 20th anniversary next week.  It was 
formed in 1991.  He stated he was one of original founders who worked at DuPont.  He 
stated he left DuPont to provide a similar service which was to design and build process 
control systems.  He stated ACE had over 300 customers last year.  He stated that they 
hire students right out of school.  They have just recently hired two graduate engineers.  
ACE will pair them with experienced engineers. 
 
Mr. Cole stated ACE has been in Newark since the early 90’s.  He stated the State of 
Pennsylvania offered ACE a good incentive but ACE has decided to stay in Delaware.  
He stated Commonwealth built the building and ACE has leased it from them and has 
just signed a five year lease with them. 
 
Mr. Cole stated that the management thought ACE was recession proof but during this 
last recession ACE’s business was affected and suffered for about 18 months.  He stated 
they started coming out of the slump last fall. 
 
Mr. Sears asked if ACE held its own patents.  Mr. Cole stated that Ace does not hold its 
own patents but considers itself as providing engineering “work for hire”.  He stated that 
ACE basically sells engineering hours, but that their work product actually belongs to 
DuPont. 
 
Mr. Riddle noted that the financial information that was submitted with the application 
was based upon FY2009.   Mr. Cole stated that 2010 was a very difficult year and 2009 
was slightly profitable.  He stated that as a privately held company, they are not forced to 
show profit quarter by quarter.  He stated that ACE was profitable in the first quarter of 
2011 and they are busy again and moving forward.  Mr. Riddle asked if ACE had 
changed accountants.  Mr. Cole stated they did so two or three years ago. 
 
Mr. Lubin asked if there were any public comments; there were none.   
 
After duly considering, inter alia, the nature of the business, its competitive situation in 
Delaware, its location, the employment and other requirements under applicable statutory 
and regulatory provisions, the Council made the following findings: (i)  the Project will 
contribute to maintaining or providing gainful employment of the citizens of the State, 
(ii) the Project will serve a public purpose by contributing to the prosperity, health or 
general welfare of the State; (iii) the Project will require a capital investment of at least 



CDF Minutes 
April 25, 2011 
Page 3 
 
$10,000, which funds, including the loan proceeds, will be available or expended on the 
date on which The Delaware Economic Development Authority disburses the requested 
loan funds; (iv) the loan will effectuate the purposes of Chapter 50, Subchapter IV of 
Title 29 of the Delaware Code, and (v)  the Applicant is a financially responsible person 
to the extent required by statue and has not been convicted of a major labor law violation 
or other illegal conduct involving moral turpitude by any agency or court of the federal 
government or agency or court of any state in the two-year period immediately prior to 
the approval of the Applicant’s application for assistance, Mr. Sears made a motion that 
the Council recommend to Mr. Alan B. Levin, Chairperson, The Delaware Economic 
Development Authority, approval of a grant in an amount not to exceed One Hundred 
Fifty-Nine Thousand Dollars ($159,000.00) to be disbursed from the Delaware Strategic 
Fund, for the Project, contingent upon the approval remaining in effect through and 
including April 24, 2012.  Mr. Riddle seconded the motion, which was then adopted by 
unanimous vote. 
 
Modular Carpet Recycling (“MCR” or the “Applicant”) – MCR received a $603,304 
Delaware Strategic Fund loan (previously the Delaware Competitiveness Fund) in 
January 2010. The term of the loan was six months interest-only payments from February 
1, 2010 through July 1, 2010 with interest and principal payments starting on August 1, 
2010 and ending on July 1, 2015.  The Applicant is requesting a modification of the 
current term to reflect interest only payments from June 1, 2011 through December 1, 
2011 (the “Request”). 
 
Mr. Bach presented this request to the Council.  He stated that MCR had obtained an SBA 
guaranteed loan from M&T Bank and received an interest-only payments term for the 
nine months ending April through December, 2011.  MCR is requesting that the 
Authority’s loan have the same terms as those from M&T Bank.  Mr. Bach also stated 
that he and Director Levin toured the MCR facility and were impressed with the 
operations. 
 
Mr. Simonetti stated that the reason he is asking for an extension is because some of the 
equipment which has been ordered has been delayed in arriving, therefore delaying 
MCR’s manufacturing process.  He stated that when the equipment arrives and is 
installed, the business will pick up.  He stated that MCR has contracts, there is a lot of 
good positive momentum but they just need a little more time for the new equipment to 
start working.  This new equipment will allow MCR to produce at higher levels. 
 
Mr. Sears asked where MCR obtains its waste carpet.  Mr. Simonetti stated they get it 
from Quays Carpet Depot and from some other businesses around the State.  He stated 
there are roughly seventy recyclers in the area that are involved with residential and 
commercial.  He stated MCR’s product is sold in a pellet form and goes to Invista.  Mr. 
Lubin indicated his belief that carpet made from recycled pellets was slightly more 
expensive to produce than virgin carpet, and if there was a market for a higher priced 
carpet.  Mr. Simonetti responded that there was a willingness to pay a bit more for 
recycled carpets in the commercial building market because it enabled builders to comply 



CDF Minutes 
April 25, 2011 
Page 4 
 
with building codes which required recycled materials to be used.  He stated that Dynasef 
is the engineering partner that is involved. 
 
Mr. Gilligan asked if MCF was still projecting that it would do $1.8 million this year.  
Mr. Simonetti stated that he did not believe they would hit that mark.  He stated the 
numbers were sliding because of the delay in getting this particular equipment.  Mr. 
Riddle asked if it was expected that the numbers would turn positive in 2012.  Mr. 
Simonetti stated he believed that the business would turn positive as soon as the 
equipment is installed.  He stated he is also aware of the 2012 bullet in the terms of the 
loan. 
 
Mr. Lubin asked if there were any public comments; there were none. 
 
After duly considering, Mr. Gilligan made a motion that the Council recommend to Mr. 
Alan B. Levin, Chairperson, The Delaware Economic Development Authority, approval 
of the Request, contingent upon the approval remaining in effect through and including 
April 24, 2012.  Senator Cook seconded the motion, which was then adopted by 
unanimous vote. 
 
Real Entertainment – Wilmington, LLC (“Real Entertainment” or the “Applicant”) 
- The Applicant is requesting a grant from the Delaware Strategic Fund program in the 
amount of $500,000.  The Applicant proposes to use the funds to supplement working 
capital and to acquire furniture and equipment at its newly-opened facility located at the 
Queen Theatre in Wilmington, Delaware (the “Project”). 
 
Mr. Bach presented this request to the Council.  He stated that in October 2009, 
construction was started to create a new World Café Live, which is located at the Queen 
Theater in Wilmington, Delaware.  The facility formally opened on April 2, 2011. 
 
Mr. Gilligan, referring to the 2009 financial statement, whether the Applicant was able to 
raise $3,000,000 as targeted.  Mr. Real stated that of the $3,000,000 anticipated, 
$500,000 has been raised in equity, another half million has been raised in the soft circle, 
$500 from Mr. Real, a $250,000 UDAG grant and $50,000 from the City of Wilmington.  
Mr. Real stated that this request today is somewhat of a bridge grant.  He stated that 
people today are a little bit hesitant in investing in entertainment and in the restaurant 
business. 
 
Mr. Gilligan asked about the World Café Live in Philadelphia.  Mr. Real stated that they 
have trimmed a lot of costs at that location and it has turned around.  It has been in the 
black for the last two quarters. 
 
Mr. Riddle was concerned about the market attracting Wilmington fans even though it is 
diverse.  Mr. Real stated that there will actually be fans coming from Philadelphia.  He 
stated they can book bigger acts in Wilmington because the Wilmington facility is bigger 
than the Philadelphia venue. There are bands that won’t play to a 600 seat venue in 



CDF Minutes 
April 25, 2011 
Page 5 
 
Philadelphia but will play to an 800 seat venue in Wilmington.  He stated they did 567 
ticked shows in Philadelphia in 2010.  He stated he believes they will do as many shows 
in Wilmington as they will in Philadelphia.  He stated he expects to do 300 shows this 
first year in Wilmington. 
 
Mr. Lubin asked about the free shows.  Mr. Real stated that they make money on those 
shows also.  He stated that those shows build the market along with the festivals.  He 
stated that the private events market is also very big in Wilmington. 
 
Mr. Sears mentioned that there was a big weekend coming which is the non conventional 
radio event.  Mr. Real stated that it’s for a radio station that carries the World Café 
shows.  He stated there are 35 different bands and this is all done as a promotion. 
 
Mr. Riddle asked if the line of credit with Wells Fargo had been renewed.  Mr. Real 
stated that it is renewed annually and is secured by a personal guarantee and other assets.  
Mr. Riddle asked how the line of credit funds would be spent and Mr. Real responded 
that they would go towards working capital.  Mr. Riddle asked where the DEDA loan 
funds would go; Mr. Real stated that they would also go towards working capital.  He 
stated that it would take about half of the funds to carry them from now until the fall and 
the other $20,000 would be for equipment and furniture. 
 
Mr. Lubin asked if this request was the result of not having raised the $3,000,000.  Mr. 
Real stated that was the case.  He stated that they have retained someone to help them 
find bigger money.  Mr. Lubin asked if it would be conceivable to make this an equity 
contribution or a deal with the ability to convert the loan to equity.  He stated that he is 
concerned about the requested funding being a straight grant - concerned about setting a 
precedent. 
 
Mr. Real stated that this is a very unique model.  He stated that this is an innovative idea 
to save a building.  He also stated that this is a tremendous economic benefit to get the 
building back in operation.    Mr. Lubin stated that may be more of a reason to consider 
doing a loan.  Mr. Real stated that it would be very difficult to add any more debt. 
 
Mr. Sears stated that any debt approved by the Council would be at a fixed rate with a 
balloon payment.  He wondered if there could be a $250,000 grant to get Real 
Entertainment through the season.  Mr. Real stated they are also moving the corporate 
headquarters here. 
 
Director Levin suggested that if there is reluctance on the Council’s part to take action on 
this project today, that it could take a month to explore other options.  He also expressed 
that this venue is changing the landscaping of this district and that it is the State’s 
objective to improve this area.  He also stated that even if this is a financing that is 
different than what is normally done, there will be job creation.  Mr. Lubin agreed and 
feels it is a doable project but would be more comfortable if the State could modestly 
improve its position. 



CDF Minutes 
April 25, 2011 
Page 6 
 
 
Mr. Gilligan made a motion to recommend that the Council look at other options during 
the next month and readdress the request at the May Council meeting.  Senator Cook 
seconded the motion, which was then adopted by unanimous vote. 
 
Service Telecom Corp. (“Service Telecom” or the “Applicant”) - The Applicant 
wishes to purchase all of the equipment and utilize the existing facility located at 105 
Park Avenue in Seaford, formerly operated by Advanced Aerosol Acquisition LLC, as a 
turnkey active ingredient delivery system operation and to also assume and/or request a 
loan from the Delaware Strategic Fund program in the amount of $125,000 to accomplish 
the acquisition (the “Project”). 
 
Ms. Onorato presented this request to the Council.  She stated that Mr. Bahar has several 
successful real estate investment companies with principle offices in southern Delaware.  
She stated he founded ServiceGeneral Corporation which is a franchisor of basic retail 
services to residential real estate tenants such as laundromats, utility bill payment 
services, phone services, etc. and also operates a number of subsidiaries for other services 
such as staffing and telecommunication products.  She also stated that Mr. Bahar founded 
Service Telecom Corporation in 2010. 
 
Ms. Onorato stated that on April 14, 2011, Advanced Aerosol Acquisition LLC defaulted 
on its lease agreement and is in the process of being evicted by its landlord.  They are 
also in default of their loan from DEDO.  However, the business equipment is still intact 
at the building and operations are still continuing. 
 
Ms. Onorato stated that Mr. Bahar is willing to purchase Advance Aerosol and assume 
the current outstanding debt to DEDO.  Mr. Bahar already has some operations in the 
facility.  She stated that various purchase options were being considered by Mr. Bahar. 
 
Ms. Onorato stated that Mr. Bahar has been in Sussex County for twenty years.  He has 
been involved in many businesses such as a property manager of 120 properties in Sussex 
County, including a laundrymat, postal center, service express, prepaid phone cards, etc. 
 
Mr. Bahar stated that they realized that they had outgrown their facility in Georgetown.  
He stated that last January they approached Advanced Aerosol.  He stated Service 
Telecom rebranded some of Advance Aerosol’s products and put them under Service 
Telecom’s name.  He stated that a few months later, one of their vendors informed them 
that it looked like Advanced Aerosol was going out of business and questioned whether 
Service Telecom would want their packages delivered to the Seaford address.  Mr. Bahar 
was concerned about the possible impact on his business.  Mr. Bahar stated that recently 
he flew up to Boston to meet with Mr. Valentine to discuss an acquisition.  Mr. Bahar 
stated he also met with the landlord, Mr. Bob Ryder.  He said that while it appeared that 
Advanced Aerosol was delinquent on many bills, their orders have picked up.  He stated 
there are some legal issues to be resolved in the sale, but that he is before the Council 
today, ready to take over Advanced Aerosol’s debt.  He stated that he believes it is a 



CDF Minutes 
April 25, 2011 
Page 7 
 
viable business, and that he has two subtenants willing to take a portion of the space and 
that he can recapture 90% of the rent by subleasing. 
 
Mr. Riddle asked if, assuming the legal issues could be resolved, if Mr. Bahar could walk 
in and take over the facility – would it be worth $1.3 million?  Mr. Bahar stated that he 
believed it was actually worth more - not the equipment, but the tank farms, infrastructure 
and permits that were already in existence.  Mr. Riddle asked Mr. Bahar if he thought 
with the business model which was presented, could it support the additional debt.  Mr. 
Bahar stated that he did believe it could handle the debt.  He stated he would have income 
from the rent and between the two businesses; they booked $32,000 in just the last two 
weeks.  Mr. Bahar stated that the money is one thing but the timing is actually great.  He 
stated that they will have to add additional personnel and have decided to split tasks and 
bring in top notch people.  They will have added additional payroll expenses and 
absorption expenses.  Mr. Bahar was concerned that he might need additional funds. 
 
Mr. Sears asked what would happen to the Georgetown business if Mr. Bahar took over 
the Seaford operation.  Mr. Bahar stated that he had built an incubator and that he has two 
other businesses operating in there, one of which is a high tech company and that they 
will not abandon Georgetown.  He stated that they have actually cleaned up one end of 
the town.  
 
Executive Session -  Mr. Gilligan made a motion that the Council go into executive 
session to discuss potential litigation which is not of record with any court confidential 
and privileged commercial and financial information in accordance with 29 Del. C. 
§10004(b)(9).  The motion was seconded by Mr. Sears, which was then adopted by 
unanimous vote. 
 
Mr. Sears made a motion that the Council go out of executive session.  The motion was 
seconded by Mr. Riddle which was then adopted by unanimous vote. 
 
Mr. Lubin stated that the Council is generally in support of Mr. Bahar’s goal to grow his 
business, and that it understood Mr. Bahar’s wish to borrow an additional $125,000.  To 
do that, Mr. Lubin stated that the Council needed to know specifically what the additional 
funds will be used for and would like more information.  Mr. Gilligan indicated that the 
Council would prefer that Mr. Bahar purchase the business directly from Advanced 
Aerosol.   
 
Mr. Lubin asked if there were any public comments; there were none.   
 
After duly considering, inter alia, the nature of the business, its competitive situation in 
Delaware, its location, the employment and other requirements under applicable statutory 
and regulatory provisions, the Council made the following findings: (i)  the Project will 
contribute to maintaining or providing gainful employment of the citizens of the State, 
(ii) the Project will serve a public purpose by contributing to the prosperity, health or 
general welfare of the State; (iii) the Project will require a capital investment of at least 



CDF Minutes 
April 25, 2011 
Page 8 
 
$10,000, which funds, including the loan proceeds, will be available or expended on the 
date on which The Delaware Economic Development Authority disburses the requested 
loan funds; (iv) the loan will effectuate the purposes of Chapter 50, Subchapter IV of 
Title 29 of the Delaware Code, and (v)  the Applicant is a financially responsible person 
to the extent required by statue and has not been convicted of a major labor law violation 
or other illegal conduct involving moral turpitude by any agency or court of the federal 
government or agency or court of any state in the two-year period immediately prior to 
the approval of the Applicant’s application for assistance, Mr. Sears made a motion that 
the Council recommend to Mr. Alan B. Levin, Chairperson, The Delaware Economic 
Development Authority, approval of the assumption of the current outstanding loan 
amount of Advanced Aerosol Acquisition LLC, and of a loan in an amount not to exceed 
One Hundred Twenty-Five Thousand Dollars ($125,000.00) to be disbursed from the 
Delaware Strategic Fund, for the Project, contingent upon a fully executed asset sale 
agreement between the Applicant and Advanced Aerosol Acquisition LLC, and upon the 
approval remaining in effect through and including April 24, 2012.  Mr. Riddle seconded 
the motion, which was then adopted by unanimous vote. 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
 
The meeting adjourned at 10:40 a.m. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
Lee Porter, Secretary 
 
LKP 
 
cc:  Members of the Council on Development Finance 
      Director Alan Levin 
      Ann Marie Johnson, Esquire 
 
The next CDF meeting is scheduled for Monday, May 23, 2011 at 9:00 A.M. at Buena 
Vista. 
 
 


